
 

REGISTERED NUMBER: 02954192 (ENGLAND AND WALES) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT AND 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONTENTS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
  Page 
 
Company Information 1 
 
Chairman’s Statement 2 
 
Strategic Report  3 
 
Report of the Directors 8 
 
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 10 
 
Corporate Governance Report 11 
 
Independent Auditors’ report - Group 12 
 
Consolidated income statement 14 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 15 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position 16 
 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 17 
 
Consolidated statement of cash flow 18 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 19 
 
Independent Auditors’ report - Company 39 
 
Company statement of financial position 41 
 
Company statement of changes in equity 42 
 
Notes to the Company financial statements 43 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
COMPANY INFORMATION 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 
 
 
 
Executive Directors: T H Berglund (Chairman) 
  A J Sperrin 
  D C Farley 
 
Non- Executive Director A D D Crichton  
 
Secretaries:  A J Sperrin 
  J Naish  
 
Registered office: 12 Blacks Road  
  London 
  W6 9EU 
   
Registered number: 02954192 (England and Wales)  
 
Independent auditor: Harmer Slater Limited 
  Salatin House 
  19 Cedar Road  
  Sutton 
  Surrey 
  SM2 5DA 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I am pleased to present my report for the year ended 31 March 2016.  
 
Highlights 
 
The Group has continued to concentrate on maximising the returns and development potential of the investments 
acquired in recent years. 
 
The results of the Group reflect the positive management of the Board. 
 

• Profit for the year, excluding unrealised valuation gains, has increased by 57%. 
• Gross rental income has increased by 14.6%. 
• Adjusted Net Asset Value (NAV) per share in the Group has risen by 27p from 370p to 397p (an increase 

of 7.3%). 
• Dividends per share have been maintained at 15.5p, showing a yield of 4.2% based on the NAV of the 

shares at the beginning of the year. 
• Combining the growth in value per share plus the dividend yield shows that our shareholders have 

enjoyed a total return of 11.5% in the year. 
 
In summary, I feel that our objectives have been achieved in that we have substantially increased rental income, 
profits and asset value per share, whilst maintaining dividends for our shareholders. 
 
The future 
 
The directors continue to actively search for further profitable acquisitions. It should be noted that the Group will 
only be able to benefit from such opportunities if new capital is raised to fund such further investment. The directors 
are actively seeking to raise new capital and this is referred to further in the strategic report set out on pages 3 to 
7.  
 
Board and management 
 
I am pleased to report that the Group has retained the services of its existing board of directors and will continue 
to benefit from their years of experience and diversity of background, hopefully for years to come. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our directors, business partners and shareholders for their 
continued support of the business. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 
 
The Directors are pleased to present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
THE GROUP 
 
Pineapple Corporation Plc is the parent company of the Group and is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 
It acts as the holding company of the Group and owns a portfolio of properties as an investment company. Its 
wholly owned principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 March 2016, all of which are property investment companies, 
are listed on page 48. 
 
STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES 
 
The Group’s objective is to enhance shareholder value by increasing asset value, increasing profits and increasing 
dividends. 
 
The Group seeks to achieve this through: 

• maintaining a balanced portfolio of residential and commercial properties, with capital growth being 
generated from the residential portfolio and rental yield being generated by the commercial portfolio; 

• by changing the portfolio mix as market conditions change; 
• maximising the value of existing properties by exploiting any development potential; 
• improving the lease/tenant profile of the commercial properties; and 
• making further investments in properties where opportunities exist to significantly enhance the value of 

the asset.  
 
THE BUSINESS MODEL 
 
Pineapple Corporation Plc is a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT). Our business model focuses on enhancing 
shareholder value via a combination of increasing asset value, increasing profits and increasing dividends from 
our well balanced portfolio of residential and commercial investment properties.  
This model drives our leasing/renting, planning and development strategy including ensuring that we let space to 
reliable tenants and minimising tenancy voids and their associated costs.  
Our business model is based on having very low fixed overheads and utilising the services of trusted and 
experienced property advisors and agents. 
 
REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Progress and events during the year 
 
This year management has continued to concentrate on maximising the returns and development potential of the 
investments acquired in recent years. 
 
Our objectives have been largely achieved: 

• Dividends paid during the year have increased from £1,185,225 in 2015 to £1,250,312 in 2016. 
• Adjusted Net Asset Value per share in the company has risen by 27p from 370p to 397p - an increase of 

7.3%.  
• Profit for the year, excluding unrealised valuation gains, has increased from £721,755 in 2015 to 

£1,136,447 in 2016. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 
 
During the year the Parent Company acquired interest in the share capital of the following: 
 
 Percentage Consideration 
Undertaking acquired £ 
 
Trueline Properties Limited 100% 1,073,000 
 
The consideration for the acquisition was settled by the issue of shares in the Parent Company. Following the 
acquisition the subsidiary undertaking was wholly owned by Pineapple Corporation Plc. 
 
 
Portfolio 
 
In line with our strategy we continue to maintain a diverse portfolio consisting of both residential and commercial 
properties. The values of our portfolio at 31 March 2016 is summarised as follows: 

 
 London Rest of UK Finland Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
Residential investments                     26,758,282 2,487,495 - 29,245,777 
Commercial investments                    16,629,997 2,997,400 5,227,200 24,854,597 
 43,388,279 5,484,895 5,227,200 54,100,374 

 
Valuation 
The Group’s property portfolio was revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as follows: 87% of the portfolio 
amounting to £47M was externally valued by Bilfinger GVA as at 31 March 2016 and 10% of the portfolio amounting 
to £5M was externally valued by Realia Management in Finland (an international associate of Savills) in 
accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards of RICS which became effective on 1 May 2003, on the 
basis of market value. The remaining portfolio valuations were updated by the directors with assistance from 
Willmotts Chartered Surveyors at 31 March 2016 on the basis of market value. Market value represents the figure 
that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Market value is 
estimated without regard to costs of sale. 
 
At 31 March 2016 the valuation of properties was £54,100,374. After excluding the value of properties acquired or 
disposed of during the year, the valuation shows an overall increase in value of the UK portfolio of 9.1% and a 
decrease in value of the Finnish portfolio (in sterling terms) of 17.8%. Overall this results in a net increase in value 
of the portfolio of 5.6%.  
 
Rental Growth  
 
Gross UK rental income was £2,164,165 for the year compared to £1,834,449 for the year ended 31 March 2015, 
representing an increase of 18% on an annualised basis.  
 
Gross rental income from Finland was down from £304,360 in 2015 to £285,954 in 2016 representing a decrease 
of 6% on an annualised basis. The overall rental growth for the Group was 14.6%. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Results 
    
        2016  2015  Change 
        £  £  
 
Gross rental income      2,450,119 2,138,809 14.6% 
Profit before tax       3,217,172 3,752,925 (14.3)% 
Profit before tax excluding gains on disposals and revaluations 691,728  526,840  31.3% 
Adjusted earnings per share     14.2p       9.2p         54.3% 
Earnings per share      42.5p  50.1p  (15.2)% 
Dividends and PID’s per share     15.5p  15.5p  - 
 
The decrease in profit before tax and earnings per share are predominantly due to lower valuation gains on 
investment properties. 
 
Cash Flow 
 
Net cash flow generated from operations was £1,173,860 for the year compared with £1,504,041 for the year 
ended 31 March 2015. 
 
The net cash inflow from investing activities was £622,508 for the year compared with a net cash outflow of 
£2,907,747 for the year ended 31 March 2015. The movement reflects the disposal of investment properties for 
cash (net of reinvestment) during the year. 
 
Balance Sheet 
 2016 2015 2014 2013 
Adjusted Net Asset Value per share 397p 370p 345p 322p 
Net debt/property 38% 42% 43% 45% 
Net debt/equity 39% 42% 43% 45% 
     

 
Note: Adjusted net asset value per share is a UK property industry measure which excludes deferred tax relating 
to the revaluation of investment properties. Details of the calculation are provided in note 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Finance 
 
The Group’s gearing ratio has decreased from 42% to 39% as shown in note 20 to the financial statements.  
 
The directors are actively pursuing new sources of equity finance to fund new profitable investment acquisitions 
and have held a series of meetings with their professional advisors to identify the most cost effective way of raising 
new capital. 
 
This project is ongoing, but it is essential that new capital is raised in order to fund new investment acquisitions if 
the company is to continue to produce the returns it has been able to achieve in the past. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Board is responsible for assessing, evaluating and managing the risks to its business. The key risks to the 
business and the actions taken to mitigate these risks are as follows: 
 
a)  Economic Risk - Any economic downturn is likely to have an adverse effect on the short term capital growth 

prospects of the Group’s investment portfolio. 
 
 The Group maintains a diverse mixed portfolio of residential and commercial properties (including 

warehouse and retail investments), principally in good locations in London and Helsinki. The Group’s 
exposure to a downturn in any one sector of the property market is minimised. 

 
 A substantial proportion of the residential investment portfolio is reversionary and its capital value increases 

even when the market is static. 
 
 The investment portfolio contains a number of substantial properties where significant value can still be 

added, either by development or change of use. 
 
  
b)  Economic Risk - Bad debts and voids are more likely to arise during an economic downturn. 
 
 All substantial commercial tenants have strong financial covenants. 
 
 Tenant lease payments are monitored closely and where problems arise the company works closely with 

the tenant to ensure that any exposure is minimised.   
 
c)  Financial Risk – If there is a significant fall in the value of the investment portfolio and the level of gearing is 

too high, this could result in breaches of banking covenants and calling in of loans. 
 
 The Group’s current level of bank borrowing has been reduced to around 34% of the property valuation, 

well below the 55% loan to value ratio incorporated in the main banking facilities. 
 
d)  Financial Risk – Adverse interest rate movements. 
 
 The Group is in talks with its bankers and is negotiating the terms of taking out an interest rate cap to cover 

its exposure to increased base rates over the term of its finance facility. 
 
e)  Financial Risk – Some of the Group’s investment portfolio is located in Finland, exposing the Group to a 

potential currency risk should the euro fall in value. Euro loans have been taken out to finance these 
investments mitigating the Group’s exposure to any such currency losses. 

 
f) Legislation risk – If the Group fails to meet its REIT requirements it may be expelled from the REIT regime 

which will result in higher costs for the company. 
 
 The board monitors compliance with REIT ratios regularly to ensure that the conditions are not breached. 

Ratios are currently well within acceptable limits and do not give any cause for concerns. 
 
g) Loss of key personnel – The team of 3 directors and 1 executive director is small and in consequence loss 

of any one member of the team may have severe negative impact on the Group’s performance.  
 
 The board has mitigated this risk by utilising the services of an extensive network of trusted and experienced 

property advisors and agents. 
 
 
 



Page 7 

 
 
PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
OUR PEOPLE 
 
Pineapple Corporation Plc is managed by a small team of three directors who bring a wealth of experience in the 
residential and commercial property sectors.  

 
Andrew Crichton as non-executive director brings an invaluable independent view to the operation of our Board 
and the company. 
 
GENDER DIVERSITY 
 
The board of directors currently comprises four male directors. The Group is committed to diversity and maintains 
a policy of recruiting the best candidate for every position. 
 
COMMUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS ISSUES 
 
Having given due consideration to relevant human rights issues and the small number of employees, we do not 
believe that the provision of detailed information in this area is relevant to the understanding of the performance 
and position of the business. However, we are confident that our business model and the transactions in which we 
engage do not contravene human rights principles or applicable legislation and in consequence we do not set any 
strategic targets in this area. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
The Group operates from a serviced office and is therefore not responsible for the environmental matters and 
greenhouse emissions related thereto.  
 
 
 
The strategic report was approved by the Board on 20 July 2016 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 

 
 
A J Sperrin 
Director    
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016  

 
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The directors who served during the period under review and up to the date of signing these financial statements 
were: 
 
T H Berglund 
A J Sperrin 
D C Farley 
A D D Crichton 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends of £1,250,312 (including a property income distribution of £664,376) were distributed during the year 
ended 31 March 2016, increased from £1,185,225 (including a property income distribution of £651,686) in the 
previous year. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
 
The Directors, after having made appropriate enquiries, including (but not limited to) a review of the Group’s 
budget/forecast for 2016/2017, and cash generating capacity at least 12 months from the date of signing 
(underpinned by long term leases in place and historic results), have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and consider that there are no 
material uncertainties that lead to significant  doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. For 
this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
For details of future developments see Chairman’s Statement on page 2. 
 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
On 30th May 2016 the Group completed the sale of one of its Finnish based investment properties with a 
carrying value of €1,400,000 at 31 March 2016 realising Group proceeds of €1,700,000. 
 
 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
 
The Group’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks including credit risk and liquidity risk. The use of 
financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written 
principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these risks.  The Group does not use derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. Further details of the financial risks are disclosed in note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 
 
All of the current Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant information needed by the Group’s Auditors (as defined by section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006) for the purposes of their audit and to establish that the Auditors are aware of that 
information. The Directors are not aware of any relevant audit information of which the Auditors are unaware. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED) 
 
 
AUDITOR 
 
Harmer Slater Limited have expressed willingness to continue in office as auditor. A resolution to re-appoint 
Harmer Slater Limited and authorising the Directors to determine their remuneration will be submitted at the 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
 
The report of the directors was approved by the Board on 20 July 2016 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 

 
 
A J Sperrin 
Director       
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.  
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The directors have 
elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and have elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles) including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland". Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the profit or loss of the company and the Group for 
that period. In preparing these financial statements the directors are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether applicable IFRSs and UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

company and the Group will continue in business. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the group’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 
 
In formulating the company's corporate governance procedures the Board of Directors takes due regard of the 
principles of good management and transparency as set down in the Principles of Governance of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange.  
 
The company has, throughout the year, been in full compliance with the ten principles set out in the Principles of 
Governance. 
 
The Board of Pineapple Corporation PLC is made up of three executive directors and one non-executive director. 
 
The Board meets in person on a quarterly basis and by teleconference whenever the need arises, providing 
effective leadership and overall control of the Group's affairs through the schedule of matters reserved for its 
decision. This includes the approval of the budget and business plan, major capital expenditure, risk management 
policies and the approval of the financial statements. Formal agendas, papers and reports are sent to the directors 
in a timely manner, prior to Board meetings. The Board also receives a summary financial report before each 
Board meeting.  
 
All directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretaries, who are responsible for ensuring 
that all Board procedures are followed. Any director may take independent professional advice at the company's 
expense in the furtherance of his duties. 
 
The Audit Committee which meets not less than quarterly and considers the Group's financial reporting (including 
accounting policies) and internal financial controls, consists of the Full Board and is chaired by A J Sperrin. The 
committee receives reports from management and from the Group's auditors. The Group has in place a series of 
procedures and controls designed to identify and prevent the risk of loss. These procedures are formally 
documented and are reported on regularly. The Audit Committee has reviewed the systems in place and considers 
these to be appropriate. 
 
The Remuneration Committee which meets at least once a year and is responsible for making decisions on 
directors' remuneration packages is chaired by T H Berglund and comprises the Full Board.  
 
The non-executive director is deemed to be independent of management and any business or other relationship 
that could interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement. This role is to help facilitate strategic decisions 
and to act as a sounding board to the executive board. His experience and knowledge of the property industry 
and listed companies is invaluable to the company. 
 
The Board attaches importance to maintaining good relationships with all its shareholders and ensures that all 
price sensitive information is released to all shareholders at the same time in accordance with the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange rules. The company's principal communication is through the Annual General Meeting and 
through the annual report and accounts.  
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc for the year ended 31 March 
2016 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity, and the related notes 1 to 25. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for out audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 10, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view.  
 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2016 and of the Group’s profit 
for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and  
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the 

IAS Regulation. 
 

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB 
As explained in note 2 to the Group financial statements, the Group in addition to complying with its legal obligation 
to apply IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors Report for the financial year for which 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.  
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 
 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

 
 
Other matter 
 
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc for 
the year ended 31 March 2016.  
 

 
 
Ransford Agyei-Boamah (senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of: 
Harmer Slater Limited 
Statutory Auditor 
 
Salatin House 
19 Cedar Road 
Sutton 
Surrey SM2 5DA 
 
 
20 July 2016 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
   
For the Year Ended 31 March 2016  

    
 Note 2016 2015 

  £ £ 

Continuing operations    

Gross rental revenue  2,450,119 2,138,809 
Property operating expenses  (446,295) (557,107)
Net rental income  2,003,824 1,581,702 
    
Administrative expenses  (625,386) (426,478) 
  1,378,438 1,155,224 
Net valuation gains on investment properties  2,269,132 3,044,028 
Profit on disposal of investment properties  256,312 182,057 
Operating profit 6 3,903,882 4,381,309 
 
Finance income 

  
201 

 
19,817 

Finance expenses  (686,911) (648,201)
Net financing costs  (686,710) (628,384)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  3,217,172 3,752,925 
    
Income tax credit 8 188,407 12,858 
    
Profit for the year after taxation attributable to equity shareholders  3,405,579 3,765,783 

 
 
Earnings per share 
   2016 

 
 

2015 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  10 42.5p 50.1p 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
   
For the Year Ended 31 March 2016  

    
  2016 2015 

  £ £ 

    
Profit for the year after taxation  3,405,579 3,765,783 

    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement:    
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  213,390 (543,211) 
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year  213,390 (543,211) 

    
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to shareholders of the 
company 

  
3,618,969 

 
3,222,572 

                                       
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
   
As at 31 March 2016  
 Note 2016 2015 
  £ £ 

Assets 
Non-current assets 

   

  Investment properties 12 54,100,374 48,916,048 
Total non-current assets  54,100,374 48,916,048 
Current assets    
 Inventories 13 3,500 3,500 
 Trade and other receivables 14 341,428 783,254 
 Cash and cash equivalents 15 140,872 178,194 
Total current assets  485,800 964,948 
Total assets  54,586,174 49,880,996 
    
Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

   

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 574,452 601,244 
 Trade and other payables 17 3,352,191 2,959,725 
Total current liabilities  3,926,643 3,560,969 
Non-current liabilities    
 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 17,653,113 17,955,592 
 Deferred tax liabilities 18 - 75,374 
Total non-current liabilities  17,653,113 

 
18,030,966 

Total liabilities  21,579,756 21,591,935 
Net assets  33,006,418 28,289,061 

    
Equity    
 Issued capital 19 8,304,701 7,666,902 
 Share premium  6,174,999 4,464,098 
 Translation reserve  322,373 108,983 
 Retained earnings  18,204,345 16,049,078 
Total equity  33,006,418 28,289,061 

 
The consolidated financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc (registration number 02954192) were 
approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 20 July 2016 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 

 
 
A J Sperrin 
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
 
 

 
 

Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

   Retained 
earnings 

 Translation 
reserve 

     Total equity 

 £ £ £ £ £ 
Balance at 1 April 2014 7,172,255 3,363,338 13,468,520 652,194 24,656,307 
Comprehensive income      
Profit for the year - - 3,765,783 - 3,765,783 
Foreign exchange translation differences - - - (543,211) (543,211) 
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 3,765,783 (543,211) 3,222,572 
Transactions with owners      
Share issues 494,647 1,100,760 - - 1,595,407 
Dividends - - (1,185,225) - (1,185,225) 
Transactions with owners 494,647 1,100,760 (1,185,225) - 410,182 
Balance at 31 March 2015 7,666,902 4,464,098 16,049,078 108,983 28,289,061 
      
Balance at 1 April 2015 7,666,902 4,464,098 16,049,078 108,983 28,289,061 
Comprehensive profit      
Profit for the year - - 3,405,579 - 3,405,579 
Foreign exchange translation differences - - - 213,390 213,390 
Total comprehensive income/expense - - 3,405,579 213,390 3,618,969 
Transactions with owners      
Share issues 637,799 1,710,901 - - 2,348,700 
Dividends - - (1,250,312) - (1,250,312) 
Transactions with owners 637,799 1,710,901 (1,250,312) - 1,098,388 
Balance at 31 March 2016 8,304,701 6,174,999 18,204,345 322,373 33,006,418 
      

 
Retained earnings 
The retained earnings represents cumulative profit or losses net of dividends paid and other adjustments. 
 
Share premium 
The share premium reserve represents the difference between the par value of shares issued and the subscription 
price. 
 
Translation reserve  
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of subsidiaries that have a different functional currency from the presentation currency. Exchange 
differences arising are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  
      
For the Year Ended 31 March 2016  

  2016 2015 
  £ £ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Operating profit  3,903,882 4,381,309 
Adjustments for non-cash items:    
Profit on disposal of investment property  (256,312) (182,057) 
Revaluation of investment property  (2,269,132) (3,044,028) 
Decrease/ (increase) in debtors  103,019 (15,442) 
Increase/ (decrease) in creditors  (307,597) 364,259 
Cash generated from operations  1,173,860 1,504,041 
Interest paid  (672,775) (624,019) 
Tax paid  (6,269) - 
Net cash from operating activities  494,816 880,022 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Interest received  201 19,817 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired  3,664 - 
Acquisition of investment properties  (402,612) (4,069,732) 
Sale of investment properties  1,021,255 1,142,168 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  622,508 (2,907,747) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from the issue of share capital  425,173 1,593,416 
Equity dividends paid  (1,155,948) (1,159,914) 
New bank borrowings  - 16,482,627 
Other loans received  594,204 1,128,495 
Other loans repaid  (246,344) (196,002) 
Bank borrowings repaid  (679,296) (16,062,844) 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  (1,062,211) 1,785,778 
    
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  55,113 (241,947) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  98,659 327,333 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (92,900) 13,273 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  60,872 98,659 

 
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flow is presented net of bank 
overdraft amounting to £80,000 at 31 March 2016 (2015: £79,535). 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
1 Nature of operation and going concern 

Pineapple Corporation Plc (the “company”) is a company registered in England and Wales. The consolidated 
financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 March 2016 comprise the company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The nature of the company's principal activities are set out 
in the Strategic Report on pages 3 to 7. 
 

 The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Group 
will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Group’s cash flow forecasts show that it has adequate 
resources available to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In preparing these 
forecasts the Directors have taken into account the potential breaches of various financing covenants if there 
are reductions in property valuations and the due dates for repayment of significant loans. 

 
 Having taken these matters into account the Directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the 

financial statements on a going concern basis.  
 
2 Statement of compliance 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and their interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”), as adopted by the European Union and with the parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable 
to companies reporting under IFRSs. 
 
The Group’s approach to new accounting standards and interpretations issued during the year is set out 
below. 
 
There are no standards, amendments and interpretations effective in the year ended 31 March 2016 and 
adopted for the first time.  
 
Amendments to and interpretations of existing standards that are relevant to the Group but are not yet effective 
and have not been adopted early are set out below.  
 
The following amendments to, or interpretations of, existing standards that have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s future accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2016 are: 
 
• IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective 1 January 2018) 
 
This new standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new 
‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. Management are not in a position to provide 
quantified information on the impact of IFRS 9 as yet. 
 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Basis of preparation  

 
 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of 

investment properties. The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group entities 
to the period presented in these consolidated financial statements. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(b) Basis of consolidation 
 

 (i) Subsidiaries  
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 incorporate the financial statements 
of Pineapple Corporation PLC (the company) and all its subsidiary undertakings (the Group). Subsidiaries are 
entities controlled by the company. Control exists when the company has the power, directly or indirectly, to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 
 (ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation  

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 
(c) Foreign currency  

(i) Foreign currency transactions  
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are 
translated to sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value 
are translated to Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. 

  
 (ii) Financial statements of foreign operations  

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
consolidation, are translated to Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The 
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Sterling at rates approximating to the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.  

 
 (iii)  Net investment in foreign operations  

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken to 
translation reserve. They are released into the income statement upon disposal. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(d) Investment properties  
 

Investment properties are properties owned or leased under finance leases by the Group which are held either 
for long-term rental income or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties are initially recognised 
at cost (including related transaction costs) and revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as determined 
by professionally qualified external valuers. The basis of valuation of properties is described in note 12. 
Properties are treated as acquired at the point when the Group assumes the significant risks and returns of 
ownership and as disposed when these are transferred to the buyer. This generally occurs on unconditional 
exchange, except where completion is expected to occur significantly later than exchange. Additions to 
investment properties consist of costs of a capital nature. In accordance with IAS 40: Investment Property, 
investment property held under a finance lease is stated gross of the recognised finance lease liability. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in the income 
statement of the period in which they arise. In accordance with IAS 40, as the Group uses the fair value model, 
no depreciation is provided in respect of investment properties including integral plant. 
 
Additions to investment properties consist of costs of a capital nature. 
 
When the Group redevelops an existing investment property for continued future use as an investment 
property, the property remains an investment property measured at fair value through the income statement. 

  
 (e) Inventories  

 Inventories comprise those properties held for sale or those being developed with a view to sell and are 
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

 (f) Financial instruments  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 (g) Trade and other receivables  
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are a reasonable approximation of their respective fair 
values and in consequence are not remeasured at fair values. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement when there is objective evidence that the asset 
is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition. 

 
 (h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (i) Impairment  
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated 
(see accounting policy 3(i) (i)).  
 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
 

  (i) Calculation of recoverable amount  
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 

  (ii) Reversals of impairment  
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.   
    
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount.  
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

 
 (j) Trade and other payables  

The carrying amount of trade and other payables is a reasonable approximation of their respective fair values 
and in consequence are not remeasured at fair values. 
 

(k) Interest bearing borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and the redemption value 
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate 
method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
 

(l) Issued share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity because they do not contain an obligation to transfer cash or another 
financial asset. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are payable. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
  (m) Revenue recognition  

 The Group recognises revenue on an accruals basis, when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured 
and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group. Revenue comprises rental income and 
the sale of property development stock. 

 
 Rental income from investment property leased out under an operating lease is recognised in the 

consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 A property is regarded as sold when the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the buyer, 
which is normally on unconditional exchange of contracts. For conditional exchanges, sales are recognised 
as the conditions are satisfied. 
 

(n) Operating lease arrangements 
 The Group earns rental income by leasing its properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating leases. 

Leases in which substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, 
are classified as operating leases. Payments, including prepayments, made under operating leases (net of 
any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 

 
(o) Expenses  
 All expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement on an accrual basis. 
 

  (i) Operating lease payments  
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part 
of the total lease expense. 

 
 (ii) Finance lease payments  

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

  
(iii) Finance expenses  
Finance expenses comprise interest on bank and other borrowings and is recognised using the effective 
interest method which calculates the amortised cost of a financial liability and allocates the interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (p) Income tax  
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in 
the consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognised in equity. The UK Group is a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT); in consequence 
corporation tax is not payable on the income and gains generated from the tax exempt property business in 
the UK.  

  
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is not provided on timing differences arising from revaluation of 
investment properties within the UK REIT regime as any gains realised would be exempt from taxation as 
long as the REIT conditions are met. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  
    
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the 
liability to pay the related dividend. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates and are reflected in the Financial Statements as soon as they become apparent. The 
key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
Valuation of investment properties 
The Group’s property portfolio was revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as follows: 87% of the 
portfolio amounting to £47M was externally valued by Bilfinger GVA and 10% of the portfolio amounting to 
£5M was externally valued by Realia Management in Finland (an international associate of Savills) as at 31 
March 2016  in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards of RICS which became effective on 
1 May 2003, on the basis of market value. The remaining portfolio valuations were updated by the directors 
with assistance from Willmotts Chartered Surveyors at 31 March 2016 on the basis of market value. Market 
value represents the figure that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale between a willing buyer and 
a willing seller. Market value is estimated without regard to costs of sale. The investment property valuation 
is inherently subjective and contains a number of assumptions upon which Bilfinger GVA and the Directors 
have based their valuation of the Group’s properties. The assumptions on which the Property Valuation 
Reports have been based include, but are not limited to, matters such as recent comparable market 
transactions on arms length terms, the tenure and tenancy details for the properties, ground conditions at the 
properties and the structural condition of the properties.   

 
Any variation in the valuations would have a material effect on the profit after tax and the net asset value of 
the Group. 
 
Deferred tax 
The deferred tax provision is based on the valuation of investment properties owned by overseas subsidiaries 
who are outside the REIT. Any variation in the valuations would affect the profit after tax and the net asset 
value. 
 

 
5. Operating segments  

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess 
their performance. 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
5. Operating segments (continued)  

 
All the Group’s operations relate to property investment and as such the Group has only one segment. 
Additional information regarding geographical location is provided below: 
  

 2016  2015 
 
 

United 

Kingdom 

 

Finland 

          

Group 

 United 

Kingdom 

 

Finland 

 

Group 
 £ £ £  £ £ £ 

        
Rental income 2,164,165 285,954 2,450,119  1,834,449 304,360 2,138,809 
Property expenses (265,614) (180,681) (446,295)  (261,176) (295,391) (557,107) 
Net rental income 1,898,551 105,273 2,003,824  1,573,273 8,969 1,581,702 

        
Property sales 1,260,095 - 1,260,095  1,179,303 - 1,179,303 
Cost of sales (1,003,783) - 1,003,783)  (997,246) - (997,246) 
Profit on sale of properties 256,312 - 256,312  182,057 - 182,057 

        
Operating profit/(loss) 2,428,141 (1,475,741) 3,903,882  4,372,340 8,969 4,381,309 

        
Total assets 49,357,502 5,228,672 54,586,174  43,397,472 6,483,524 49,880,996 

        
Segment liabilities 15,762,734 5,817,022 21,579,756  18,049,226 3,542,709 21,591,935 

        
Total capital expenditure 6,249,273 - 6,429,273  3,746,994 - 3,746,994 

        
Depreciation - - -  - - - 

 
During the year gross rental income from one tenant in the United Kingdom amounted to £370,000 (2015: 
£370,000) representing more than 10% of the Group’s revenue. 

 
6. Operating profit 
 

The operating profit is after charging: 
   2016 2015 

  £ £ 
Auditor’s remuneration:    
Audit fees - parent company and consolidated financial 
statements 

  
22,000 

 
23,847 

    
Audit fees – subsidiary undertakings  8,000 9,840 

 
The Audit Committee reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services to ensure that independence is 
maintained.  
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
7. Personnel expenses 
 
Salary costs 

   2016 2015 

  £ £ 
Short term employee benefits  121,750 60,500 
Compulsory social security contributions  13,442       6,679 
  135,192 67,179 

Number of employees   2016 2015 

The average number of employees (including Directors) during the year 
was as follows: 
 

    

Administration   3 3 
 
 
8. Income tax credit    
    
Recognised in the income statement   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Deferred tax expense     
Deferred tax on revaluation of investment properties   (188,407) (12,858) 
     
Total income tax credit   (188,407) (12,858) 
 
UK Corporation tax is calculated at 20% (2015: 21%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year. Taxation of other 
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 
 
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows: 
       
Reconciliation of effective tax rate   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation   3,405,579 3,752,925 
     
Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 20% (2015: 21%)   681,116 788,114 
REIT exempt property gains on disposal   (51,262) (38,232) 
REIT exempt property rental profits and revaluations in the year   (818,261) (762,740) 
Total income tax credit in the income statement (as above)   (188,407) (12,858) 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
8. Income tax expense (continued) 
 
Pineapple Corporation PLC has a Group Real Estate Investment Trust (GREIT) status. The Group does not pay 
UK corporation tax on the profits and gains from qualifying rental business in the UK provided it meets certain 
conditions. Non-qualifying profits and gains of the Group continue to be subject to corporation tax as normal. 
 
9. Dividends 
 
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the year are as follows: 
 
 
 

2016 
Dividend  paid 

per share 

2016 
 

2015 
Dividend  paid 

per share 

2015 
 

 Pence  £ Pence  £ 
Ordinary dividend paid on 29 September 2015 (19 September 2014) 7.5 585,936 7.0 533,539 
Property income distribution paid on 28 March 2016 (20 March 2015) 8.0 664,376 8.5 651,686 
 15.5 1,250,312 15.5 1,185,225 

 
10. Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share  
Earnings per share and adjusted earnings per share have been calculated using the weighted average number of 
shares in issue during the year of 8,006,546 (2015: 7,441,925) as follows: 
 
 
 

2016 
Profit after tax 

2016 
Earnings per 

share 

2015 
Profit after tax 

2015 
Earnings per 

share 

 £ Pence £ Pence 
Basic and diluted 3,405,579 42.5 3,765,783 50.1 
Gain on revaluation of investment properties (2,269,132) (28.3) (3,044,028) (40.9) 
Adjusted 1,136,447 14.2 721,755 9.2 

 
Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share as there were no dilutive instruments. 
 
 
11. Result of parent company 
 
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Income Statement of the parent company is not 
presented as part of these financial statements. The parent company’s profit for the financial year was £3,203,884 
(2015: £3,296,416). 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 
12. Investment properties 

 
 

 

 £ 
Valuation  
Balance at 1 April 2014 43,913,378 
Acquisitions 3,746,994 
Disposals (960,112) 
Revaluation 3,044,028 
Foreign exchange differences (828,240) 
Balance at 31 March 2015 48,916,048 
  
Balance at 1 April 2015 48,916,048 
Acquisitions 3,459,766 
Disposals (947,943) 
Revaluation 2,269,132 
Foreign exchange differences 403,371 
Balance at 31 March 2016 54,100,374 
  
Carrying amounts  
At 31 March 2015 48,916,048 
At 31 March 2016 54,100,374 
  

 
In accordance with IAS 40 the carrying value of investment properties is their fair value as determined by external 
valuers. 
 
The Group’s property portfolio was revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as follows: 87% of the portfolio 
amounting to £47M was externally valued by Bilfinger GVA and 10% of the portfolio amounting to £5M was 
externally valued by Realia Management in Finland (an international associate of Savills) as at 31 March 2016 in 
accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards of RICS which became effective on 1 May 2003, on the 
basis of market value. The remaining portfolio valuations were updated by the directors with assistance from 
Willmotts Chartered Surveyors at 31 March 2016 on the basis of market value. Market value represents the figure 
that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Market value is 
estimated without regard to costs of sale. 
 
The Group considers all of its investment properties to fall within ‘Level 2’, as described by IFRS13. Accordingly, 
there has been no transfer of properties within fair value hierarchy in the financial year. 
 
The historical cost of properties at 31 March 2016 was £39,460,554 (2015: £36,929,812). The historical cost of 
leasehold properties included within the above amounted to £5,267,025 (2015: £3,941,948). 
 
The independent valuation of all property assets uses market evidence and also includes assumptions regarding 
income expectations and yields that investors would expect to achieve on those assets over time. Many external 
economic and market factors, such as interest rate expectations, bond yields, the availability and cost of finance 
and the relative attraction of property against other asset classes, could lead to a reappraisal of the assumptions 
used to arrive at current valuations. In adverse conditions, this reappraisal can lead to a reduction in property values 
and a loss in net asset values.    
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
13. Inventories  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Property trading stock 3,500 3,500 

 
 
 

14. Trade and other receivables  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Rent receivable 108,060 106,649 
Other receivables 109,412 466,891 
Prepayments and accrued income 123,956 209,714 
 341,428 783,254 

 
 
Rent receivables are all considered past due as they relate to rents receivable from tenants all of which are payable 
in advance. In accordance with IFRS 7, the amounts shown as past due represent the total credit exposure. 
 
 
15. Cash and cash equivalents  

 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Bank balances 140,872 178,194 
Cash and cash equivalents 140,872 178,194 

 
 
 
16. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, see note 20.  
 
 
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Current liabilities 
  

 

Bank overdraft 80,000 79,535 
Bank loans 494,452 521,709 
 574,452 601,244 
   
Non-current liabilities 
   
Bank loans 17,653,113 17,955,592 
 17,653,113 17,955,592 
Total borrowings 18,227,565 18,556,836 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
16. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 
Repayment analysis  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Total borrowings 
  

 

Within one year 574,552 601,245 
One to two years 352,873 521,709 
Two to three years 227,873 380,038 
Three to four years 227,873 255,038 
Four to five years 227,873 255,038 
Over five years 16,616,523 16,543,770 
 18,227,565 18,556,836 
    
 
The bank loans are secured by fixed and floating charges over the Group’s assets. Interest is payable at 3% over 
National Westminster Bank Plc’s Base Rate on sterling denominated loans of £16,002,082. In addition, interest is 
payable at 1.25% above EURIBOR on Euro loans of Euros 2,708,942. The loans mature on various dates between 
2017 and 2021.  
 
 
17. Trade and other payables  

 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Trade payables 89,408 198,971 
Other payables 2,665,762 2,153,486 
Other taxes  126,339 112,935 
Accruals and deferred income 470,682 494,333 
 3,352,191 2,959,725 
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. Deferred tax provision  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Deferred tax   
Opening balance 75,374 79,119 
Exchange differences 4,743 9,113 
Reversal of temporary differences:   
    Revaluation of overseas based investment properties (80,117) (12,585) 
Closing balance - 75,374 
 
The deferred tax provision relates to the revaluation of the Group’s Finnish investment properties which are not 
within the UK REIT regime. At 31 March 2016 no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of investment 
property revaluation losses totalling  Euros 1,709,273. The deferred tax liability at 31 March 2015 was provided 
on revaluation gains using the Finnish capital gains tax rate of 20% (2015: 24.5%).  
 
The deferred tax liability arising from the revaluation gains from investment properties held by the acquired 
subsidiaries is extinguished upon the subsidiaries joining the Group REIT. 
 

19. Capital and reserves 
 

 
 

      
 
Issue of ordinary shares 
 
On 10 April 2015 the company issued 26,309 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£94,975.49. 
 
On 20 April 2015 the company issued 97,100 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£350,531. 
 
On 10 June 2015 the company issued 548 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£1,978.28.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Share capital Number 
  
In issue at 1 April 2014 7,172,255 
Issued for cash 494,647 
In issue at 31 March 2015 7,666,902 

In issue at 1 April 2015 7,666,902 
Issued for cash 347,799 
Issued for shares 290,000 
In issue at 31 March 2016 8,304,701 
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19. Capital and reserves (continued) 
 
On 11 August 2015 the company issued 8,108 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash of 
£29,999.60. 
 
On 4 September 2015 the company issued 13,513 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium £2.70 raising cash 
of £49,998.10. 
 
On 30 September 2015 the company issued 290,000 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70. The 
share issue was to facilitate a share for share exchange of 10,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in Trueline 
Properties Ltd at a fair value of £1,073,000. 
 
On 23 November 2015 the company issued 40,600 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash 
of £150,220. 
 
On 1 December 2015 the company issued 121,621 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash 
of £449,997.70. 
 
On 6 January 2016 the company issued 40,000 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash of 
£148,000. 
 
20. Risk and financial instruments 
 
The Group has no derivative financial instruments at 31 March 2016. 
 
The board of directors determines, as required, the degree to which it is appropriate to use financial instruments 
and hedging techniques to mitigate risks. The main risks for which such instruments may be appropriate are 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk each of which is discussed below.  
 
Foreign currency risk  
The Group has a subsidiary undertaking located in Finland.  The Finnish subsidiary receives income, incurs 
expenses and holds net assets in Euros. The Group's principal exchange rate exposure is therefore related to 
movements between the Euro and Sterling. The Group's cash resources and bank loans are denominated in 
Sterling and Euros. The Group has a downside exposure to any weakening of the Euro as this would decrease 
the value of the Finnish investment property in Sterling terms.  Any strengthening of the Euro would however 
result in an increase in the value of the Finnish investment property.  Any such movements would affect the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet when the net assets of the Finnish Subsidiary are translated into Sterling.  The policy 
in relation to the translation of foreign currency assets and liabilities is set out in note 1, 'Accounting Policies 
Foreign Currencies' to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
At 31 March 2016 the Group had Euro denominated bank loans and overdraft of £2,223,097 (Euros 2,806,941) 
(2015: £2,229,306 (Euros 3,048,415)) which was held by its Finnish subsidiary undertaking. 
 
Based on the net assets of the Finnish subsidiary undertaking at the year end, a 10% weakening or strengthening 
of sterling would have a £nil (2015: £nil) impact in the income statement and equity except upon disposal of the 
subsidiary. 
 
Liquidity risk 
The Group relies on a mix of shareholder funding and bank loans to finance its operations.  The main liquidity risk 
arises from loan covenants and renewal/repayment of loans when they are due for renewal/repayment. The Group 
regularly monitors its financial ratios to ensure that it complies with the loan covenants. 
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20. Risk and financial instruments (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group finances its operations in the UK and Finland through retained profits and medium term bank 
borrowings. UK borrowings are subject to an interest rate of 3% above the National Westminster Bank Plc’s Base 
Rate over the term of the loan. Finnish borrowings are subject to an interest rate of 1.25% above EURIBOR over 
the term of the loan. Interest rate swaps have not been used to fix the interest rate risk exposure.  
 
Based on the Group’s average interest rate at the balance sheet date, a 400 bps increase in the National 
Westminster Bank Plc’s Base Rate and a 214 pbs increase in EURIBOR would increase net interest payable in 
the income statement and reduce equity by £0.7m (2015: £0.7m). Similarly, a 50 bps reduction in the National 
Westminster Bank Plc’s Base Rate and a 24 pbs reduction in EURIBOR would decrease net interest payable in 
the income statement and increase equity by £84,000 (2015:  £88,000). The sensitivity has been calculated by 
using the largest annual changes in both the National Westminster Bank Plc’s Base Rate and the 3 month 
EURIBOR over the last ten years. The impact assumes both rates will not fall below 0%. 
 
Credit risk 
The Group’s principal exposure to credit risk arises from rent and other receivables as detailed in note 14. The 
Group’s bank deposits are held with high quality financial institutions in order to minimise credit risk. The maximum 
credit risk to which the Group was exposed at 31 March 2016 was £481,033 (2015: £960,278). 
 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its rent and other receivables. The amounts presented in the 
balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, estimated by the Group’s management, based on 
prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment. 
 
Financial assets 
The Group holds floating rate financial assets which comprise interest earning bank deposits at rates set by 
reference to the prevailing LIBOR or equivalent to the relevant country.  The Group has no fixed rate deposits. 
The fair value of short term deposits is assumed to approximate to their book values. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Details of the Group’s financial liabilities are included in note 16 and 17. The fair values of the Group’s borrowings 
are calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The Group’s obligation is to 
repay its bank loans at par value on the maturity dates. 
 
The average interest rate for the fixed rate bank loans outstanding at 31 March 2016 was 3.75% (2015: 3.24%). 
 
Fair values 
The classes of financial instruments are the same as the line items included on the face of the balance sheet and 
have been analysed in more detail in the notes to the accounts. All the Group’s financial assets are categorised 
as loans and receivables and all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 
 
Valuation hierarchy 
The carrying value of the company’s financial instruments at 31 March 2016 approximates their fair values and 
therefore were not measured at fair value.  Consequently, no fair value hierarchy has been presented.  
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20. Risk and financial instruments (continued) 
 
Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern 
so that it can continue to increase the value of the entity for the benefit of shareholders. 
 
Consistent with others in the industry the Group monitors capital on the basis of the net asset value per share and 
the gearing ratio. 
 
Net asset value 
The net asset values and adjusted net asset values per share at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 
 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Net assets   33,006,418 28,289,061 
Adjustment to net assets relating to deferred tax on investment properties   - 75,374 
Adjusted net assets   33,006,418 28,364,435 
Number of shares in issue   8,304,701 7,666,902 
Net asset value per share (pence)   397 369 
Adjusted net asset value per share (pence)   397 370 
 
Gearing 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash 
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net 
debt. The gearing ratios at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Total borrowings   20,893,327 20,710,322 
Less: cash and cash equivalents   (140,872) (178,194) 
Net debt   20,752,455 20,532,128 
Total equity   33,006,418 28,289,061 
Total capital   53,758,873 48,821,189 
Gearing ratio   39% 42% 

 
 
Maturity of Group financial liabilities  
The expected maturity profiles of the Group’s borrowings together with the interest rate profile of the Group’s 
undiscounted borrowings are set out under note 16. 
 
Borrowing facilities 
The Group has no undrawn committed borrowing facilities. 
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21. Acquisitions of subsidiary undertakings 
 
On 30 September 2015, the Group obtained control of Trueline Properties Limited by acquiring 100 per cent 
of the shares and voting interests. 
 
The directors are of the opinion that this acquisition is a natural fit and is in line with the Group’s investment 
strategy. 
  
Details of the subsidiary undertakings acquired during the year are as follows: 
 
     

 £ 
Purchase consideration:  
 Fair value of equity instruments (290,000 ordinary shares) 1,073,000 
Total purchase consideration 1,073,000 
Fair value of net assets acquired 1,073,000 
 - 

 
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisitions are as follows: 
 
  

 £   
Cash and cash equivalents 3,664 
Investment property 1,614,493 
Trade and other payables (251,740) 
Borrowings (185,127) 
Deferred tax liabilities (108,290) 
Fair value of net assets acquired 1,073,000 

 
Revenue contributed 19 
Profit after tax contributed 6,300 

 
 
22. Capital commitments 
 
There were no capital commitments at 31 March 2016 or at 31 March 2015. 
 
23. Contingent liabilities 
 
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2016 or at 31 March 2015. 
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24. Related parties  
 
Subsidiaries 
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.  
 
Transactions with key management personnel  
The key management personnel are the directors of the Group. Directors of the Group and their immediate 
relatives control 22.72% (2015: 26.76%) of the voting shares of the Group. 
    
The directors’ compensations were as follows: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Directors’ remuneration   44,000 22,500 
 
The following directors and their immediate family members received dividends and property income distributions 
during the year in respect of their shareholdings as follows: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
D C Farley (and immediate family members)   105,532 88,771 
T H Berglund (and immediate family members)   112,427 73,019 
A J Sperrin (and immediate family members)        51,708 41,690 
 
At 31 March 2016 the following amounts were owed to/(from) the directors or their immediate family 
members: 
 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
M P Farley                                                                                                                     48,282 23,360 
D C Farley   - 60,000 
T H Berglund   209,920 71,257 
A J Sperrin   10,002 - 
 
During the year T H Berglund purchased a 125 year lease in a property owned by the Group for a premium of 
£100,000. 
 
Other related party transactions  
A J Sperrin and T H Berglund jointly control Willmotts Corporation Limited. The transactions between the Group 
and Willmotts Corporation Limited or its subsidiaries, all of which were undertaken on an arm’s-length basis, were 
as follows. 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Property and other management fees charged to the Group   211,602 226,574 
Property income distribution or dividend paid by the Group   67,503 67,503 
Amount owed by the Group at the year end   22,126 13,697 

 
 
 
 



Page 38 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
24. Related parties (continued) 
 
 
Other related party transactions  
 
D C Farley and family control Pointexport Limited. The transactions between this company and the Group were 
as follows: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Annual rent payable to the Group   63,500 63,500 
Amounts owed by the Group at the year end   150,247 289,806 
Dividends paid by the Group   11,861 8,451 

 

The amounts owed to or by the Group are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment date or repayment 
schedule. 

 
25. Operating Lease Arrangements 

 
At 31 March 2016 the Group had contracted with tenants to receive the following future minimum lease 
payments: 
 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Not later than one year   2,112,620 1,915,841 
Later than one year but not more than five years   2,444,284 3,857,762 
More than five years   3,629,501 5,708,503 

There were no contingent rents recognised as income during the current or previous year. 

 
25. Events After the Balance Sheet Date 

 
On 30th May 2016 the Group completed the sale of one of its Finnish based investment properties with a 
carrying value of €1,400,000 at 31 March 2016 realising Group proceeds of €1,700,000. 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
We have audited the Parent company financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc for the year ended 31 
March 2016 which comprise the Parent company Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 17. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 10, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the Parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view.  
 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Parent company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent 
company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications 
for our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the Parent company financial statements: 
 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2016;  
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; and  
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  
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PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion: 
 
• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the Parent company financial statements.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion: 
 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or  
• the Parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or  
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
 
Other matter 
 
We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc for the year 
ended 31 March 2016.  
 

 
 
Ransford Agyei-Boamah (senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of 
Harmer Slater Limited 
Statutory Auditor 
 
Salatin House 
19 Cedar Road 
Sutton 
Surrey SM2 5DA 
 
 
20 July 2016 
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As at 31 March 2016  
 Note 2016 2015 
  £ £ 

Assets 
Non-current assets 

   

  Investment properties 6 35,764,490 34,893,398 
      Investments in subsidiaries 7 3,988,921 2,907,791 
Total non-current assets  39,753,411 37,801,189 
Current assets    

 Inventories 8 3,500 3,500 
 Trade and other receivables 9 9,646,945 6,417,158 
 Cash and cash equivalents  123,943 132,370 
Total current assets  9,774,388 6,553,028 
Total assets  49,527,799 44,354,217 
    
Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

   

 Trade and other payables 10 3,563,276 2,304,255 
      Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 11 166,667 175,836 
Total current liabilities  3,729,943 2,480,091 
Non-current liabilities    
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 11 15,427,354 15,805,897 
Total non-current liabilities  15,427,354 15,805,897 
Total liabilities  19,157,297 18,285,988 
Net assets  30,370,502 26,068,229 

    
Equity    
 Called up share capital 12 8,304,701 7,666,902 
 Share premium account 12 6,174,999 4,464,098 
      Other reserve 12 10,613,545 8,867,585 
 Retained earnings 12 5,277,257 5,069,644 
Total equity  30,370,502 26,068,229 

 
The financial statements of Pineapple Corporation Plc (registration number 02954192) were approved by the 
Board of directors and authorised for issue on 20 July 2016. 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
 

 
 
A J Sperrin 
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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Share 
capital 

   Share 
premium 

Other reserve  Retained 
earnings 

     Total equity 

 £ £  £ £ 
Balance at 1 April 2015 7,666,902 4,464,098 8,867,585 5,069,644 26,068,229 
Comprehensive income      
Profit for the year - - - 3,203,885 3,203,884 
Total comprehensive income for the year 7,666,902 4,464,098 8,867,585 8,273,529 29,272,113 
Transfers - - 1,745,960 (1,745,960) - 
Share issues 637,799 1,710,901 - -  2,348,700 
Dividends - - - (1,250,312) (1,250,312) 
Balance at 31 March 2016 8,304,701 6,174,999 10,613,545 5,277,257 30,370,507 
      
Balance at 1 April 2014 7,172,255 3,363,338 6,098,533 5,727,505 22,361,631 
Comprehensive income      
Profit for the year - - - 3,296,416 3,296,416 
Total comprehensive income for the year 7,172,255 3,363,338 6,098,533 9,023,921 25,658,047 
Transfers - - 2,769,052 (2,769,052) - 
Share issues 494,647 1,100,760 - - 1,595,407 
Dividends - - - (1,185,225) (1,185,225) 
Balance at 31 March 2015 7,666,902 4,464,098 8,867,585 5,069,644 26,068,229 
       
 
Retained earnings 
The retained earnings represents cumulative profit or losses net of dividends paid and other adjustments. 
 
Other reserve 
The other reserve represents non-distributable reserves arising on the revaluation of investment properties. 
 
Share premium 
The share premium reserve represents the difference between the par value of shares issued and the 
subscription price. 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
1 General Information 

 
 Pineapple Corporation Plc (“the company”) is a public company limited by share capital incorporated in the 

United Kingdom and is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 
 
 The address of its registered office and principal place of business is 12 Blacks Road, Hammersmith, London 

W6 9EU. 
 
 The company acts as a holding company and owns a portfolio of properties as an investment company. 
 
2 Significant accounting policies 
 
 (a) Going concern 
 The company’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the 

company will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The company’s cash flow forecasts show that it 
has adequate resources available to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In preparing 
these forecasts the Directors have taken into account the potential breaches of various financing covenants 
if there are reductions in property valuations and the due dates for repayment of significant loans.  

  
 Having taken these matters into account the Directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the 

financial statements on a going concern basis. 
  
 (b) Statement of compliance 
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102) issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

 
 The company transition from previously extant UK GAAP to FRS 102 as at 1 April 2014. An explanation of 

how transition has affected the reported financial position and financial performance is given in note 17. 
 
 (c) Basis of preparation  
 These financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except that as disclosed 

in the accounting policies certain items are shown at fair value. 
 
 The functional currency of the company is considered to be pounds sterling because that is the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which the company operates. 
   
 (d) Summary of disclosure exemptions 
 The company is a qualifying entity (for the purposes of FRS 102) and in consequence has taken advantage 

of the following disclosure exemptions: 
- the requirement to present a statement of cash flows and related notes 
- the requirement to disclose transactions with group entities 
- financial instrument disclosures, including: categories of financial instruments, items of income, 

expenses, gains or losses relating to financial instruments and exposure to and management of financial 
risks. 

 
 (e) Critical accounting judgements and estimates  
 In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions which 

affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Use of 
available information and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates, together with 
past experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Critical accounting judgements and estimates (continued)  
 

Fair value of financial assets 
 Market observable inputs are used wherever possible. In the absence of an active market, estimation of fair 

value is achieved by using valuation techniques such as arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models. For discounted cash flow analysis, estimated future cash flows and 
discount rates are based on current market information and rates applicable to financial instruments with 
similar yields, credit quality and maturity characteristics. This valuation will also take into account the 
marketability of the assets being valued. 

 
 (f) Taxation 

Current tax represents the expected tax payable (or recoverable) on the taxable profits for the year using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and taking into account any adjustments 
arising from prior years. 
 
The company is in a Group Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT), therefore deferred tax is not provided on 
timing differences arising from revaluation of those assets as any gains realised would be exempt from 
taxation as long as the REIT conditions are met. 

 
 (g) Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties owned by the company which are held for long-term rental income or for 
capital appreciation or both and are included in fixed assets at their latest valuation plus subsequent additions 
at cost. Surpluses and deficits arising on valuation are taken direct to the Income Statement. 
 
The Group’s property portfolio (which includes the company’s investment properties) is valued annually. At 
least 25 per cent of the properties held at the previous year end together with any additions during the year 
will be valued by an external valuation agent and the remainder by the directors so that within every four year 
period all properties would have been subject to an external valuation. 

  
Depreciation is not provided in respect of freehold properties. This treatment may be a departure from the 
Companies Act 2006 concerning the depreciation of fixed assets in respect of certain of these properties. 
However such properties are not held for consumption but for investment and the directors consider annual 
depreciation would be inappropriate and that this policy is necessary to give a true and fair view. Depreciation 
is only but one of many factors reflected in the valuation and the amount which might have been shown cannot 
be separately identified or quantified. Any permanent diminution in value of properties is charged to the 
Income Statement. 

 
 (h) Investments 

Fixed asset investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings are stated at cost less provision for 
impairment. 
 
The carrying value of investments in subsidiary undertakings and associated undertakings are reviewed as 
necessary for impairment. Impairment is calculated as the difference between the carrying value and the 
estimated value-in-use or disposal value if higher. Value-in-use represents the present value of future 
expected cash flows discounted on a pre-tax basis. The net book amount of the investment is written down 
where impairment is identified. 
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
  

(i) Impairment of assets 
At each reporting date fixed assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If there is an indication of possible impairment, the recoverable amount of 
any affected asset is estimated and compared with its carrying amount. If estimated recoverable amount is 
lower, the carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 
 
If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the Income Statement. 
 

 (j) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank. 
 

 (k) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the impairment of 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables 
 

 (l) Payables 
Payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if the company does not have 
an unconditional right, at the end of the reporting period, to defer settlement of the creditor for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date. If there is an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months 
after the reporting date, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Payables are recognised initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
 

 (m) Borrowings 
Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs. Interest-bearing 
borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost, with the difference between the proceeds, net of 
transaction costs, and the amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the Income Statement 
over the period of the relevant borrowing. 
  
 Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in interest payable 
and similar charges. 
  
 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 

 
  
 
 
 
 



Page 46 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED 
 
2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 (n) Property development inventory 

Property development inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
   
 (o) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other 
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is 
deferred and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.  

  
 
3. Income statement 
 

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Income Statement of the company is not 
presented as part of these financial statements. The profit attributable to shareholders dealt with in the 
company’s accounts for the financial year was £3,203,885 (2015: £3,296,416). 

 
4. Staff costs 
 

   2016 2015 

  £ £ 
Short term employee benefits  121,750 60,500 
Compulsory social security contributions  13,442 6,679 

  135,192 67,179 

Number of employees   2016 2015 

The average number of employees (including Directors) during the 
year was as follows: 

 

  £ £ 

Administration   3 3 
 
 
5. Directors’ Remuneration 
 

Salary costs 
   2016 2015 

  £ £ 
Short term employee benefits  44,000 22,000 
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6. Investment properties 

 
 

Investment 
Properties 

 £ 
Cost  
Balance at 1 April 2015 34,893,398 
Additions 1,822,788 
Disposals (3,871,383) 
Revaluation 2,919,687 
Balance at 31 March 2016 35,764,490 

  

Carrying amounts  
At 31 March 2016 35,764,490 
  
At 31 March 2015 34,893,398 

  
 
The company’s property portfolio was revalued at the balance sheet date to fair value as follows: 96% of the 
portfolio amounting to £34M was externally valued by Bilfinger GVA at 31 March 2016 in accordance with the 
Appraisal and Valuation Standards of RICS which became effective on 1 May 2003, on the basis of market value. 
The remaining portfolio valuations were updated by the directors with assistance from Willmotts Chartered 
Surveyors at 31 March 2016 on the basis of market value. Market value represents the figure that would appear 
in a hypothetical contract of sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller. Market value is estimated without 
regard to costs of sale. 

 
The historical cost of properties at 31 March 2016 was £25,150,945 (2015: £26,025,813). The historical cost of 
leasehold properties included within the above amounted to £3,907,025 (2015: £2,581,498). 
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7. Investments held in subsidiaries 

 
 

  Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 
   £ 

Cost    
Balance at 1 April 2015   6,548,539 
Additions   1,081,130 
Balance at 31 March 2016   7,629,669 
    
Provision    
Balance at 1 April 2015   3,640,748 
Balance at 31 March 2016   3,640,748 
    
Carrying amounts    
At 31 March 2016   3,988,921 
    
At 31 March 2015   2,907,791 

 

The company’s subsidiary undertakings (listed below) are 100% owned by the company.  

 

Subsidiary undertaking 
Country of 
Incorporation Direct or Indirect Holding 

 
Principal Activity 

Aspectvista Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Fastbulb Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Cranswick Builders Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Tammberg OY Finland Direct Property Investment 
Maplebutton Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Torasup Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Delta House Studios Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Pagecable Limited England Direct Dormant 
Duneflight Limited England Direct Dormant 
Aspectsaver Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Drillscene Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Earthstring Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Greenexpert Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Logicspirit Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Saverteam Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Shapemenu Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Spiritframe Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Basechange Limited England Direct Property Investment 
Awarddeal Limited England Indirect Property Investment 
Finlaw Thirty-Six Limited England Indirect Property Investment 
Wingdawn Property Co Limited England Indirect Property Investment 
Rapidbronze Limited England Indirect Dormant 
Fastflask Limited England Indirect Dormant 
Deckcoin Limited England Indirect Dormant 
Paperframe Limited England Indirect Dormant 
Roundbell Limited England Indirect Dormant 
Silkstorm Limited England Indirect Dormant 
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8. Inventories  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Property trading stock 3,500 3,500 

 
 
9. Trade and other receivables  
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Rent receivable 104,205 100,156 
Other receivables 97,357 332,965 
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 9,335,148 5,794,012 
Prepayments and accrued income 110,235 190,025 
 9,646,945 6,417,158 

 
10. Trade and other payables 

 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Trade payables 67,820 36,279 
Other payables 1,697,736 735,268 
Amount owed to subsidiary undertaking 1,263,387 993,494 
Other taxes 125,180 104,935 
Accruals and deferred income 409,153 434,279 
 3,563,276 2,304,255 

 
11. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 
 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Current liabilities   
Bank overdrafts - 9,169 
Bank loan 166,667 166,667 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Bank loan 15,427,354 15,805,897 
 15,594,021 15,981,733 

 
The bank loans are secured by fixed and floating charges over the Group’s assets. Interest is payable at 3% over 
National Westminster Bank Plc’s Base Rate on sterling denominated loans of £15,594,021. The loans mature on 
various dates between 2017 and 2019.  
 
The bank loans are repayable as follows:  

 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
Bank loans   
Within one year 166,667 166,667 
Between one and two years 166,667 166,667 
Between two and five years 15,260,687 15,639,230 
 15,594,021 15,972,564 
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12. Share capital 

 2016 2015 

 £ £ 
 
Allotted, called up and fully paid  

 

Equity   
8,304,701 (2015: 7,666,902) ordinary shares of £1 each 8,304,701 7,666,902 

 
The company has one class of share which carry no rights to fixed income. 
 
For information on individual reserves see page 42. 
 
 
Issue of ordinary shares 
 
On 10 April 2015 the company issued 26,309 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£94,975.49. 
 
On 20 April 2015 the company issued 97,100 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£350,531. 
 
On 10 June 2015 the company issued 548 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.61 raising cash of 
£1,978.28.  
 
On 11 August 2015 the company issued 8,108 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash of 
£29,999.60. 
 
On 4 September 2015 the company issued 13,513 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium £2.70 raising cash 
of £49,998.10. 
 
On 30 September 2015 the company issued 290,000 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70. The 
share issue was to facilitate a share for share exchange of 10,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in Trueline 
Properties Ltd at a fair value of £1,073,000. 
 
On 23 November 2015 the company issued 40,600 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash 
of £150,220. 
 
On 1 December 2015 the company issued 121,621 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash 
of £449,997.70. 
 
On 6 January 2016 the company issued 40,000 ordinary shares of £1 each at a premium of £2.70 raising cash of 
£148,000. 
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13. Capital commitments 
 
There were no capital commitments at 31 March 2016 or at 31 March 2015. 
 
14. Contingent liabilities 
 
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2016 or at 31 March 2015. 
 
15. Related party transactions  
 
The company reports the following transactions with related parties: 
 
Transactions with key management personnel  
The key management personnel are the directors of the company. Directors of the company and their immediate 
relatives control 22.72% (2015: 26.76%) of the voting shares of the company. 
    
The directors’ compensations were as follows: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Directors’ remuneration   44,000 22,000 

 
The following directors received dividends and property income distributions during the year in respect of their 
shareholdings: 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
D C Farley (and immediate family members)   105,532 88,771 
T H Berglund (and immediate family members)   112,427 73,019 
A J Sperrin (and immediate family members)      51,708 41,690 
 
At 31 March 2016 the following amounts were owed to the directors or their immediate relatives: 
 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
M P Farley                                                                                                                     48,282 23,360 
D C Farley   - 60,000 
T H Berglund   72,554 71,257 
A J Sperrin   10,002 - 

 
 
During the year T H Berglund purchased a 125 year lease in a property owned by the Group for a premium of 
£100,000. 
 
Transactions with subsidiary undertakings 
 
The company is a parent undertaking and has therefore taken advantage of the provisions of Section 33.1A of 
FRS 102 not to disclose transactions with wholly owned subsidiary undertakings. 
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15. Related party transactions (continued)  
 
Other related party transactions  
 
A J Sperrin and T H Berglund jointly control Willmotts Corporation Limited. The transactions between the company 
and Willmotts Corporation Limited or its subsidiaries, all of which were undertaken on an arm’s-length basis, were 
as follows. 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Property and other management fees charged to the Group   211,602 226,574 
Property income distribution or dividend paid by the Group   67,503 67,503 
Amount owed by the Group at the year end   22,126 13,697 

 
D C Farley and family control Pointexport Limited. The transactions with this company were as follows: 
 

   2016 2015 

   £ £ 
Dividends paid by the company   11,861 8,451 

 

The amounts owed to or by the company are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment date or 
repayment schedule. 
 
 
16. Events after the financial period 
There have been no significant events between the year end and the date of approval of these accounts which 
would require a change to, or disclosure in, the accounts. 
 
  



Page 53 

PINEAPPLE CORPORATION PLC 
 

 NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
17. Transition to FRS 102  
 
The company is a first time adopter of FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  The effect of the transition from the previously 
extant UK GAAP to FRS 102 on the company’s reported financial position and financial performance is detailed 
below. 
 
Statement of Financial Position at 1 April 2014 
 
 
 As originally 

reported 
£ 

Reclassification 
 

£ 

As restated 
 
£ 

Assets 
Non-current assets 

   

Investment property 30,127,256 - 30,127,256 
Investments in subsidiaries 2,907,791 - 2,907,791 
 33,035,047 - 33,035,047 
Current assets    
Inventories 3,500 - 3,500 
Receivables 6,162,184 - 6,162,184 
Cash and cash equivalents 326,396 - 326,396 
 6,492,080 - 6,492,080 
Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

   

Trade and other payables 2,206,891 - 2,206,891 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14,958,605 - 14,958,605 
 17,165,496 - 17,165,496 
    
Net assets 22,361,631 - 22,361,631 
    
Equity    
Called up share capital 7,172,255 - 7,172,255 
Share premium account 3,363,338 - 3,363,338 
Revaluation Reserve 6,098,533 (6,098,533) - 
Other reserve - 6,098,533 6,098,533 
Retained earnings 5,727,505 - 5,727,505 
Total equity 22,361,631 - 22,361,631 
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17. Transition to FRS 102 (continued) 
 
 
Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2015 
 
 
 As originally 

reported 
£ 

Reclassification 
 

£ 

As restated 
 
£ 

Assets 
Non-current assets 

   

Investment property 34,893,398 - 34,893,398 
Investments in subsidiaries 2,907,791 - 2,907,791 
 37,801,189 - 37,801,189 
Current assets    
Inventories 3,500 - 3,500 
Receivables 6,417,158 - 6,417,158 
Cash and cash equivalents 132,370 - 132,370 
 6,553,028 - 6,553,028 
Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

   

Trade and other payables 2,304,255 - 2,304,255 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 175,836 - 175,836 
 2,480,091 - 2,480,091 
Non-current liabilities    
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15,805,897 - 15,805,897 
    
Net assets 26,068,229 - 26,068,229 
    
Equity    
Called up share capital 7,666,902 - 7,666,902 
Share premium account 4,464,098 - 4,464,098 
Revaluation Reserve 8,867,585 (8,867,585) - 
Other reserve - 8,867,585 8,867,585 
Retained earnings 5,069,644 - 5,069,644 
Total equity 26,068,229 - 26,068,229 

 
 


